

# Explaining Non-Performing Loans in Greece: A Comparative Study on the Effects of Recession and Banking Practices

# Platon Monokroussos, Dimitrios D. Thomakos, Thomas A. Alexopoulos

# GreeSE Paper No.101 Hellenic Observatory Papers on Greece and Southeast Europe

August 2016

All views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the Hellenic Observatory or the LSE © Platon Monokroussos, Dimitrios D. Thomakos and Thomas A. Alexopoulos



THE LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

## İİ

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	2
1. Introduction	4
2. Determinants of non-performing loans: literature review and testable hypotheses	9
2.1 Macroeconomic determinants of credit risk	12
2.2 Bank-specific determinants of credit risk	13
2.3 Feedback from NPLs to the real economy	16
3. Evolution of problem loans in Greece	16
4. Data and variables	20
4.1 Data	20
4.2 Variables	20
4.3 Methodology	23
5. Empirical analysis and policy implications	27
5.1 VEC representation	27
5.2 VAR representation	34
5.2.1 NPL VARs with macro determinants	36
5.2.3 Are the effects of macroeconomic shocks uniform across different NPL categories?	51
5.2.4 NPL VARs for restructured loans	52
6. Concluding remarks and policy implications	53
References	55

# Explaining Non-Performing Loans in Greece: A Comparative Study on the Effects of Recession and Banking Practices

Platon Monokroussos<sup>\*</sup>, Dimitrios D. Thomakos<sup>#</sup>, and Thomas A. Alexopoulos<sup>†</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

Using a new dataset of macroeconomic and banking-related variables we attempt to explain the evolution of "bad" loans in Greece over the period 2005-2015. Our findings suggest that the primary cause of the sharp increase in non-performing loans (NPLs) following the outbreak of the sovereign debt crisis can be mainly attributed to the unprecedented contraction of domestic economic activity and the subsequent rise in unemployment. Furthermore, our results offer no empirical evidence in support of a range of examined hypotheses assuming overly aggressive lending practices by major Greek credit institutions or any systematic efforts to boost current earnings by extending credit to lower credit quality clients. We find that the transmission of macroeconomic shocks to NPLs takes place relatively fast, with the estimated magnitude of the respective responses being broadly comparable with that documented in some earlier studies for other euro area periphery economies. Overall, our results support a swift implementation of reforms agreed with official lenders in the context of the new (3rd) bailout programme. These envisage the modernization the county's private sector insolvency framework and the creation of a more efficient model for the management of NPLs. A vigorous implementation of these reforms is key for allowing a resumption of positive credit creation, by freeing up valuable resources that are currently trapped in unproductive sectors of the domestic economy. This, in turn, would facilitate a speedier return to positive economic growth and a gradual reduction in unemployment.

<sup>\*</sup>**Dr. Platon Monokroussos**, Group Chief Economist of Eurobank Ergasias S.A., LSE Hellenic Observatory Visiting Senior Fellow

**<sup>#</sup>Dimitrios D. Thomakos**, Professor in Applied Econometrics, University of Peloponnese **#Thomas A. Alexopoulos**, Ph.D. Candidate, University of Peloponnese

# Explaining Non-Performing Loans in Greece: A Comparative Study on the Effects of Recession and Banking Practices

## **1. Introduction**

Exploring the determinants of non-performing loans (NPLs) is an issue of great importance for macroeconomic and financial-system stability. A large number of recent studies examine the drivers of credit risk, especially in the period after the outbreak of the global financial crisis. Some contributions in this field use a single category of potential determinants, while others focus on both systematic factors (e.g. general macroeconomic conditions) and idiosyncratic influences (e.g. bank-specific variables and firm-level information).

Our study utilizes a novel set of macroeconomic and microeconomic variables to explain the evolution of bad loans in the Greek banking system over the period 2005-2015. The models presented provide a suitable framework for analyzing banking sector developments in Greece and, by extension, in other euro area economies that were particularly hit by the sovereign debt crisis. Apart from being useful for empirically testing a number of relevant hypotheses, they allow the analysis of potential feedback effects from ex-post credit risk to the real economy. By and large, we believe that our findings constitute an important contribution to the literature. First, Greece has been particularly hit by the crisis, with draconian fiscal austerity measures being implemented in

recent years to address severe macroeconomic imbalances accumulated following the adoption of the euro. In the context of three consecutive bailout programmes implemented since mid-2010, a range of conventional and unconventional policies has been applied to stabilize the country's economy and fiscal accounts. Arguably, these policies have had important consequences for private sector solvency and, by implication, for financial system stability.<sup>1,2</sup> Therefore, it does not come as a surprise that Greece's current bailout programme features domestic financial stability as one of its main pillars, with particular emphasis being placed on the management of NPLs and reforms to the domestic regulatory and legal framework in dealing with private sector insolvency. In view of the above, we believe that a thorough understanding of the determinants of credit risk is of utmost importance for designing appropriate policies aiming to safeguard macroeconomic and financial systemic stability in Greece and in other euro area periphery economies in the post-crisis era.

Second, our study features a number of novel aspects compared to a few relevant contributions for Greece that appeared in the literature in recent years (see e.g. Louzis et al., 2012; Makri et al., 2014; and Makri, 2015). In more detail, it utilizes a fully-updated set of macroeconomic and banking-sector quarterly data spanning the period 2005-2015. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Over the period 2009-2015, Greece suffered cumulative GDP losses in excess of 25 percentage points (ppts), while the unemployment rate has increased by more than 17ppts. In addition, the unprecedented (in size and scope) restructuring of privately-held Greek pubic debt (PSI) in early 2012 completely wiped out the capital base of Greek banks, necessitating a major recapitalization of the domestic banking system in the following year. Two additional recapitalizations of systemic Greek banks followed (in 2014 and 2015) to address severe liquidity and solvency problems faced by these institutions due to the sizeable drawdown of deposits and the sharp increase in bad loans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Since 2008, the ratio of non-performing loans to total loans in Greece recorded a cumulative increase of ca 31ppts, hitting around 36 percent at the end of 2015.

time-horizon covers a significant part of the high growth period that followed the country's euro area entry as well as the years after the outbreak of the Greek sovereign debt crisis in late 2009/early 2010. In more detail, we examine the evolution of realized credit risk by looking at a supervisory set of quarterly data for aggregate (banking systemwide) non-performing  $loans^3$  as well as the respective data for consumer, mortgage and corporate loans. In contrast to earlier studies mostly analyze problem for Greece, which loans excluding restructurings, we also look at the determinants of non-performing loans that include restructured loans.<sup>4</sup> This has been possible by working with an entirely new set of data compiled by the Bank of Greece and constitutes a quite interesting aspect of our study, as it allows us to also look at the evolution of restructured loans.

Third, compared to the data panel estimation methods that have been mostly used in earlier studies, we estimate a number of vector error correction (VEC) and vector autoregession (VAR) models. This gives us the additional advantage of addressing potential endogeneity issues. Furthermore, it allows us to fully capture the dynamic interactions between different types of bad loan determinants and examine the feedback of NPLs to other variables, both macroeconomic and bankingsector specific ones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In our analysis, non-performing loans are defined as bank loans overdue by more than ninety (90) days.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A significant portion of problem loans have been restructured in Greece over the last several years, following direct borrower-creditor negotiations to modify their terms. At the end of 2015, the outstanding amount of problem loans in domestic banks' balance sheets stood at c. €98.4bn (or 43.5 percent of total outstanding loans), while the respective level which excludes restructured loans was c. €80.5bn (or 35.6 percent of total loans). So far, loan restructuring has mostly taken the form of maturity extensions.

In addition to examining the robustness of some earlier empirical findings in the context of our extended data set, we test a number of new hypotheses that appear to have important policy implications. Among others, we empirically document that the primary cause of the sharp increase of non-performing loans in Greece following the outbreak of the sovereign debt crisis can be mainly attributed to the unprecedented contraction of domestic economic activity (and the subsequent spike in unemployment) and not to the high rates of domestic credit expansion experienced in the initial period following the euro adoption. In fact, our findings offer no empirical evidence in support of a range of examined hypotheses assuming overly aggressive lending practices by major Greek banks or any systematic efforts to boost current earnings by extending credit to lower credit quality clients. Furthermore, the transmission of macroeconomic shocks to NPLs takes place relatively fast, with the estimated magnitude of the respective responses being broadly comparable with that documented in the earlier literature. For instance, in a bivariate VAR model for the quarterly change in the ratio of NPLs (including restructured loans) and real GDP growth, the maximum impact of a GDP shock is felt within 3 quarters, while the magnitude of the estimated long-term impact is a c. 0.4 percentage points (ppts) increase in the NPLs ratio per 1 ppt contraction in real GDP growth.

In most estimated models we document a significant feedback effect running from NPLs to real GDP growth and the unemployment rate. In other words, an increase in the NPLs ratio can have a measurable (and statistically significant) negative effect on domestic economic activity and employment conditions. Such a two-way causality between bad loans and the macro economy has been documented in a number of earlier studies (for instance, see Diawan and Rodrik, 1992) and it can materialize through e.g. the credit supply channel. In more detail, a high volume of bad loans typically implies increased operating costs for their monitoring and management as well as higher provisioning, a situation that hinders capital adequacy and financing terms for credit institutions. These factors may in turn lead to higher lending interest rates and, more generally, tighter lending conditions in the economy. Finally, in line with some recent empirical studies for Greece (see e.g. Louzis et al., 2012), we find that the magnitude (and the significance) of the impact of macroeconomic conditions on the evolution of NPLs can vary across different categories of loans (consumer, mortgage or corporate).

Overall, our results urge for a swift stabilization of domestic economic conditions that would allow a cyclical peak in the non-performing loans ratio not far from its current (end-2015) level. The rigorous implementation of the conditionality underlying the new (3<sup>rd</sup>) bailout programme agreed with official lenders in August 2015 constitutes an important prerequisite for attaining this aim. In this context, the implementation of agreed reforms for modernizing the county's private sector insolvency framework and for moving towards a more efficient model for the management of NPLs is key for allowing a resumption of positive credit creation, by freeing up valuable resources that are currently trapped in unproductive sectors of the Greek economy.

The rest of this paper is structured as follows: section 2 provides a literature review of the macro- and micro-related determinants of NPLs; section 3 provides a bird's eye view on the evolution of problem loans in Greece in the years before and after the outbreak of the global crisis; section 4 discusses our data and empirical methodology; section 5 presents our empirical results and their policy implications; and section 6 offers some concluding remarks.

# 2. Determinants of non-performing loans: literature review and testable hypotheses

Many studies on the causes of bank failures have documented that failing institutions usually feature a higher volume of problem loans prior to failure and that asset quality constitutes a statistically significant predictor of insolvency (Berger and DeYoung, 1997). The literature on the determinants of credit risk identifies several important categories of potential determinants, ranging from macroeconomic and institutional factors to bank-specific variables and firm-level information.

Models examining the influence of macroeconomic factors on credit risk focus primarily on the relationship between the business cycle and the capacity of borrowers to service their loans. The central idea underlying these studies is that credit standards undergo a gradual deterioration during economic expansion, when credit institutions apply increasingly liberal lending policies in their quest for market share (see e.g. Keeton, 1999 and Fernandez De Lis et al., 2000). These may take the form of "negative NPV" strategies, involving lower interest charges and/or increased lending to low credit quality borrowers (Rajan, 1994). Such strategies usually backfire during recessionary phases, when credit risks actually materialize. Recent studies examining the role of the business cycle in the evolution of credit risk include e.g. Borio et al. (2001), Quagliarello (2007), Beck et al. (2013) and Climent-Serrano and Pavia (2014).

Studies examining the impact of lending strategies use bank-specific information as explanatory variables in models analyzing the intertemporal evolution of bad loans and/or other measures of ex-post credit risk. Such information relates to, among others, loan quality, cost efficiency and capitalization of credit institutions, with a number of relevant hypotheses having been examined in the literature, starting with the seminal work of Berger and DeYoung (1997).

Another strand of the literature looks at firm-specific information to account for the idiosyncratic components of credit risk. Relevant studies focus on a number of accounting variables as potential determinants of bad loans and/or other proxies for corporate credit risk. These include e.g. firm sales growth, profitability, funding cost, leverage, asset growth, size and age. Contributions belonging to this group of studies include e.g. Benito and Young (2001); Bunn and Redwood (2003) and Belaid (2014).

Separately, a group of studies looks at the potential impact of the business and regulatory environment on the level of banks' problem loans. Such studies examine the significance of various indicators of the quality and the stability of a country's legal, regulatory, institutional and political environment. Among others, relevant measures may include the degree of information sharing between creditors and borrowers, the legal rights of borrowers and lenders (as reflected in e.g. the presence or not of a sound bankruptcy framework) as well as the degree of corruption control. Studies examining the impact of such regulatory and institutional factors include e.g. La Porta, et al. (1998); Galindo and Miller (2001); Jappelli and Pagano (2002); Godlewski (2004) and Djankov et al. (2007).

More recently, an increasing number of studies estimate models that combine the aforementioned categories of variables in explaining the evolution of credit risk. For instance, Quagliarello (2006) combines macroeconomic and bank-specific determinants to investigate the riskiness (as proxied by the evolution of loan loss provisions and the flow of new bad loans ratio) of a large database of Italian intermediaries over the period 1985-2002. In a similar vein, Louzis et al. (2012) use a balanced panel consisting of supervisory data for the nine largest Greek commercial banks to test a number of hypotheses and explain the intertemporal evolution of the non-performing loans in Greece over the period from Q1 2003 to Q3 2009. Bonfim (2009) uses macroeconomic variables and firm-specific information to explain the determinants of credit default in the Portuguese banking industry. Separately, Belaid (2014) combines macroeconomic and bank-specific variables with a data set containing information for more than nine thousand domestic firms to explain the loan quality determinants in the Tunisian banking sector over the period 2001-2010.

Finally, Boudriga et al. (2010) analyze empirically the determinants of non-performing loans and the potential impact of both the business and the institutional environment on credit risk exposure of banks in the MENA region. By looking at a sample of 46 banks in 12 countries over the period 2002-2006 they find that credit quality of banks is positively affected by the relevance and the quality of credit information published by public and private bureaus. Their findings also highlight the importance of a sound institutional environment in enhancing bank credit quality. According to their analysis, a better control of corruption, sound regulatory quality, a better enforcement of the rule of law, and free voice and accountability play an important role in reducing NPLs in the MENA countries.

For the purpose of our empirical analysis, we elaborate below on the first two general categories of potential credit risk determinants; namely, macroeconomic factors and bank-specific variables.

#### 2.1 Macroeconomic determinants of credit risk

The empirical literature examining the link between credit risk and the state of the macro economy dates back to the papers of King and Plosser (1984), Bernanke and Gertler (1989), and Bernanke, Gertler and Gilchrist (1998). These along with a number of more recent studies generally document a negative relationship between macroeconomic conditions and non-performing loans (NPLs). A general explanation for this finding is as follows: in economic expansions borrowers' income improves and thus, their capacity to service their debts. On the other hand, when economic activity slows down, NPLs increase as unemployment rises, disposable incomes decline and borrowers face difficulties in repaying

their debt obligations (Salas and Suarina, 2002; Rajan and Dhal 2003; Jimenez and Saurina, 2005; Pesaran et al., 2006; Quagliarello 2007; Beck et al., 2013; and Klein 2013).

Other macroeconomic variables that potentially affect the debt servicing capacity of firms and households and, by implication, banks' asset quality include the unemployment rate, inflation, property prices as well as the loan interest rate and the exchange rate. In more detail, many empirical studies document a positive link between lending interest rates and NPLs, particularly in the case of floating rate loans (see e.g. Louzis et al., 2012; Beck et al., 2013 and Klein 2013). However, the impact of inflation on asset quality may be ambiguous. Higher inflation erodes the real value of outstanding debt, thus making debt servicing easier. On the other hand, it may reduce real incomes (when prices are sticky) and/or instigate an interest rate tightening by the monetary authority (Nkusu, 2011). Finally, several studies find a negative link between share prices and NPLs, as a pronounced decline in the stock market reflect deterioration broader may an expected in macroeconomic conditions, a high number of corporate defaults and an erosion of collateral values (see e.g. Beck et al., 2013).

### 2.2 Bank-specific determinants of credit risk

The lending policies of credit institutions play a central role in the evolution of future problem loans. In line with the stylized fact of credit pro-cyclicality<sup>5</sup>, the market share conquest campaigns undertaken by credit institutions in conjunction with the income smoothing activities by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Athanasoglou and Daniilidis (2011) suggest that credit pro-cyclicality constitutes an inherent feature of both the real and the financial sector of an economy.

borrowers in expansionary phases may give rise to inadequate credit quality assessments or even worse to "gambling resurrection" policies on the part of bank managers (see e.g. Fernandez et al., 2000).<sup>6</sup>

This situation usually leads to an acceleration of banks' lending activities during periods of positive economic growth, which are often accompanied by a gradual loosening of credit standards, especially in the more mature stages of the economic upturn. However, the implications of worsened credit standards for macroeconomic and financial-system stability do not become fully apparent before a new major economic downturn materializes.

In an economic recession, the rise of unemployment and the decline in household and corporate incomes hinder the debt servicing ability of borrowers. To exacerbate things further, the incipient rise in problem loans and the decline in collateral values lead to a serious tightening of credit conditions as banks become increasingly unwilling to extend new credit in an environment characterized by increased information asymmetries with respect to the actual credit quality of borrowers. The whole situation then gives rise to boom-bust credit cycles that move in synch with the economy's up and down phases or even worse to major banking sector crisis as analyzed in e.g. Pesola (2005).

In their influential study, Berger and DeYoung (1997) look at the effect of banks' lending strategies and other activities on asset quality. In more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In this context, "gambling resurrection" policies can be thought as highly speculative lending strategies undertaken by bank managers to maximize short-term gains.

detail, they examine the relationship between NPLs, cost efficiency and capitalization of U.S. commercial banks over the period 1985-94 by testing a number of hypotheses concerning the direction of causality among these variables. They find a negative link (and a two-way causality) between cost efficiency and NPLs as: (i) an exogenous increase in non-performing loans - driven by, say, a notable worsening in the broader macroeconomic conditions - may lead to a deterioration in banks' cost efficiency as a result of increased operating costs to deal with NPLs (*"bad luck"* hypothesis); and (ii) low cost efficiency may signify poor management skills in credit scoring as well as in loan underwriting monitoring and control, which, in turn, can lead to higher NPLs (*"bad management"* hypothesis).

An alternative hypothesis (dubbed as *"skimping"*) advanced by Berger and DeYoung (1997), proposes a positive relationship between cost efficiency and NPLs. This is on the basis that high cost efficiency may reflect limited resources allocated to monitor credit risk, a situation that could lead to higher problem loans in the future. Finally, Berger and DeYoung (1997) as well as a number of later studies examine the socalled *"moral hazard"* hypothesis, initially proposed by Keeton and Morris (1987). The latter hypothesis claims that low capitalization of banks leads to higher NPLs as banks' managers may have an incentive to carry riskier loan portfolios. In line with these empirical findings, a number of recent studies find support of some of the aforementioned hypotheses.

#### 2.3 Feedback from NPLs to the real economy

In a number of empirical studies, the feedback from NPLs to the real economy is usually identified through the credit supply channel. For instance, a high volume of bad loans typically implies increased operating costs for their monitoring and management as well as higher provisioning, a situation that hinders capital adequacy and financing terms for credit institutions. These factors may in turn lead to higher lending interest rates and, more generally, tighter lending conditions in the economy (Diawan and Rodrik, 1992). The feedback effects from NPLs to the real economy may also work through non-credit supply channels, as, for instance, debt overhang can discourage companies from investing in new projects since future profits will be shared with the creditors (Myers, 1977).

## 3. Evolution of problem loans in Greece

In Greece, a country that has experienced one of the most severe and prolonged recessions in recent economic history, cumulative real GDP losses between Q1 2008 and Q4 2015 amounted to around 26 percent, while the ratio of non-performing loans to total loans increased by 30.9ppts (and by 38.4ppts if restructured loans are also accounted for), hitting 35.6 percent (and 43.5 percent, respectively) at the end of that period (Figure A). This followed double-digit growth of domestic bank lending in the post euro-entry years that led to the 2007/2008 global financial crisis (Figure B). However, it is important to note that the global crisis found Greece's private sector not particularly over-levered relative

to other euro area economies (Figure C). In terms of nominal amounts, the total outstanding stock of NPLs (including restructured loans) in Greek commercial banks' balance sheets stood at €98.4bn at the end of 2015, with corporate bad loans accounting for 57.1 percent of the total stock (Figure D). The overwhelming portion of the latter share consists of bad debts owed by very small, small and medium-sized firms (Figure E). The corresponding percentages for mortgage and consumer problem loans were 27.6 and 15.2 at the end of 2015. In terms of provisioning, the coverage of NPLs including restructured loans by loan loss reserves ranged between 45 and 55 percent during the initial part of our sample (Q1 2005 - Q4 2008). The said coverage fell precipitously in the following few quarters (hit a low of 31.8 percent in Q4 2009), before increasing gradually thereafter and hitting a post-crisis high of 46.4 at the end of 2015 (Figure F). Finally, a look at Figure G indicates that the flow (here, the quarterly change of the level) of NPLs including restructured loans embarked on an upward path after the outbreak of the global crisis, hitting a record peak of €13.8bn in Q1 2013. This compares with an average quarterly flow of c. €3.5bn in the prior three years and can be mainly attributed to the absorption of the balance sheets of the Cypriot subsidiaries in Greece by the four Greek systemic banks. The pace of increase of the said flow measure declined significantly in 2014 (it even recorded a negative reading of c. - €2.4bn in Q4 2014), it hit a two-year high in Q1 2015 (€2.35bn) and ended that year with a small increase of €0.2bn.

Figure A - Greek commercial banks' non-performing loans (with and without restructured loans) to total loans ratio in percentage points



Figure B – Annual growth of the outstanding balances of Greek commercial bank loans (before provisions) & non-performing loans including restructured loans in percentage points





Source: IMF, WB, Euro bank Global Markets Research

Figure D – Evolution of non-performing loans including restructured loans by major sectors in Greece (EUR billions)



Figure E – Non-performing corporate exposures to total corporate loans ratio at the end of 2015 (percentage points)



Figure F – Non-performing loans including restructured loans to total loans ratio; loan loss reserves to total loans ratio and coverage of non-performing loans (percentage points)





Figure G– Quarterly change (flow) of the total outstanding amount of loans classified as bad debt including restructured loans (EUR billions)

## 4. Data and variables

### 4.1 <u>Data</u>

For the purpose of our empirical analysis, we utilize a novel data set of macroeconomic and bank-specific variables (quarterly observations) spanning the period between Q1 2005 and Q4 2015. Our data sources include Bank of Greece, Greece's statistics agency (EL.STAT.) and EUROSTAT.

## 4.2 Variables

Depending on the model specification under examination, the variables presented below are expressed in log levels, ratios or percentages in the case of interest rates.

## Realized credit risk variables

Many banking variables are potentially able to convey signals about the evolution of banks' riskiness over the business cycle; however, loan loss provisions and non-performing loans have generally been considered to be the main transmission channels of macroeconomic shocks to banks' balance sheets (Quagliarello, 2007). For the purpose of our analysis, we estimate alternative models featuring the following credit risk variables: *Non-performing loans*: bank loans overdue for more than ninety (90) days. For the purposes of our analysis, we utilize supervisory data for the aggregate (industry-wide) stock of bad loans as well as the corresponding series for consumer, mortgage and corporate loans. The respective acronyms we assign to these variables are: *TNPL* (total stock of bad loans); *TNPL\_CONS* (consumer bad loans), *TNPL\_HOUSE* (mortgage bad loans); and *TNPL\_CORP* (corporate bad loans).

**Restructured loans ratio:** total stock of restructured loans (all types of loans) with the respective acronym being: **L\_RESTRUCT**.

The rest of the variables in our study belong to two broad categories of potential explanatory variables of credit risk that have been identified in the literature; namely: macroeconomic variables and bank-specific variables.

#### Macroeconomic variables

**Real GDP** (**RGDP**): an aggregate indicator of the state of the macro economy and the phase of the business cycle. As explained earlier, we would expect a negative relationship between this variable and the ratio of bad loans to total loans.

**Labour market conditions:** two alternative indicators of labour market conditions are examined in the study; namely, unemployment rate as a percentage of the total labour force (**UNPL**) and the total number of employed persons in all domestic industries (**EMPLOYED**). As explained

earlier, we would expect a negative relationship between labour market conditions and the ratio of bad loans to total loans (positive association if the unemployment rate in levels or first differences is used).

**Domestic inflation (INFL)**: herein proxied by the quarterly change in the harmonized consumer price index for Greece. As explained earlier, the impact of inflation on future bad debts may be ambiguous.

**Collateral values:** index of prices of dwellings, deflated by the harmonized inflation rate for Greece (*RHP*).<sup>7</sup> Based on the analysis above, we would expect a negative relationship between collateral values and NPLs.

**Debt service cost:** real interest rate on bank loans calculated using as weights the outstanding volumes of domestic monetary financial institutions' loans vis-à-vis euro area private-sector residents (*L\_RIR*); the respective acronyms for the real interest rate on consumer, mortgage and corporate loans are: *L\_CONS\_RIR*, *L\_HOUSE\_RIR* and *L\_CORP\_RIR*.

#### Bank-specific variables:

*Loans-to-deposits interest rate spread (LD\_IRS):* this variable may be given alternative interpretations e.g. relative competitiveness conditions in the loans and deposits market or degree of risk taking on the part of domestic credit institutions (positive association with NPLs).

*Growth of the stock of performing loans*: loans excluding NPLs and restructured loans, with respective acronyms: *PERFO\_TL\_GR* (total aggregate stock); *PERFO\_CONS\_GR* (consumer); *PERFO\_HOUSE\_GR* (mortgage); and *PERFO\_CORP\_GR* (corporate loans);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bank of Greece publishes a newer index based on apartment prices. However, our study uses the historical series of the index of prices of dwellings due to the greater time span of the latter series.

**Bank solvency and capitalization:** industry-wide solvency ratio, measured as total common shareholders equity to total bank assets (**ETA**). In line with the literature, the finding of a negative relationship between bank solvency and future bad loans may be interpreted as empirical evidence supporting the so-called "moral hazard" hypothesis i.e., low capitalization of banks may lead to an increase in future NPLs as bank managers may have an incentive to carry riskier loan portfolios.

#### 4.3 <u>Methodology</u>

This section outlines the methodology used in the study, which is mostly dictated by the nature of the available data. Since our time series are relatively short, we avoid complicated methods that would potentially require a larger data sample. We therefore employ an unrestricted vector autoregression (VAR) in levels and in differences as well as a vector error correction (VEC) model, with the aim to examine the robustness of the empirical results and the consistency of the policy implications that they imply. In this context, it is important to note that our VAR and VEC models are estimated using different underlying data (e.g. NPL ratios vs NPLs in levels, respectively), arguably enhancing robustness and protecting our analysis from (potentially severe) misspecifications.

The standard VAR model with p lags, when the variables are expressed in differences, is written as:

$$\Delta y_{q,k,t} = \nu + \sum_{t=1}^{p} A_{i} \Delta y_{q,k,t-i} + \mathbf{B} X_{t} + u_{t}$$
(1)

where  $y_{q,k,t}$  is  $a(K \times 1)$  column vector,  $v = (v_1, ..., v_k)'$ ,  $B = (B_1, ..., B_k)'$  are  $(K \times 1)$  column vectors of intercept terms ,  $A_i$  are  $(K \times K)$  coefficient

matrices,  $u_t$  is *i.i.d*  $N(0,\Sigma)$  and  $X_t$  is an exogenous pseudo-variable, herein the crisis dummy C12 as explained in the next section. The three subscripts in the vector of our variables are used to help identify the different models and variable combinations as follows.

$$y_{q,k,t} = [TNPL_{k,t}, \{UNPL_{t}, RGDP_{t}, RHP_{t}, L_{RIR_{k,t}}, ETA_{t}, LD_{IRS_{t}}, PERFO_{RG_{k,t}}\}_{q}]', for q = 1, ..., 5$$

where 
$$TNPL_{k,t}$$
,  $PERFO_RG_{k,t} \& L_RIR_{k,t}$   

$$\begin{cases} Total loans, k = 0\\ Corporate Loans, k = 1\\ Mortgages, k = 2\\ Consumer Loans, k = 3 \end{cases}$$
 for  $\forall q$ 

When we consider a standard VAR with p lags, when the variables are expressed in levels, we simply re-write the model of equation (1) without the difference operator as:

$$y_{q,k,t} = v + \sum_{i=1}^{p} A_i y_{t-i} + A_{p+1} y_{t-(p+1)} + BX_t + u_t$$
(2)

where we add an extra lag term which is required for accurately performing causality tests with non-stationary data (the discussion on causality testing follows after the presentation of the models). The corresponding VEC format of the VAR model is given in standard form as well:

$$\Delta y_{q,t} = \Pi y_{t-1} + \sum_{t=1}^{p-1} \Gamma_i \Delta y_{t-i} + \mathbf{B} X_t + u_t$$
(3)

where  $y_{q,t}$  is the following (Kx1) column vector:

 $y_{q,t} = [LOG\_L\_TNPL_t, \{LOG\_RGDP_t, LOG\_EMPLOYED_t, LOG\_L\_TLOANS_t, L\_RIR_t\}]'$ 

and  $rk(\Pi)=r$  with 0 < r < K so that  $\Pi = \alpha \beta'$ , where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are  $(K \times r)$ matrices with rk(a) = rk(b) = r and  $X_t$  is a vector of exogenous pseudovariables, herein the crisis dummies C12 and D2013 as explained in the next section. To test for the presence of co-integration we use the approach of Johansen (1991, 1995), using both the maximal eigenvalue and trace statistics. The error-correction term, ECT, is expressed in generic form as:

$$ECT = \alpha(\beta' y_{t-1} + c_0 + d_0 t) + c_1 + d_1 t$$
(4)

Here we perform pre-testing for identifying where a constant and/or a linear term trend should be included in the error correction relationship. Depending on whether the co-integrating vector annihilates the trend component, we find that the parameters  $c_0$  and  $c_1$  should not simultaneously be included in our estimated specifications. The same applies for  $d_0$  and  $d_1$ .

The optimal lag length is chosen by fitting the VAR representation of the models sequentially with lag orders  $p = 0, 1, ..., p_{max}$  and selecting the value that minimizes standard information criteria, with the following (generic) format:

$$IC(p) = \ln \left| \tilde{\Sigma}_{u}(p) \right| + h(p, n)$$
(5)

where h(p,n) stands for the penalty function  $\tilde{\Sigma}_{u}(p) = T^{-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \hat{\varepsilon}_{t} \hat{\varepsilon}_{t}'$  of the respective VAR(p) model. Depending on the penalty function that is being used, the information criteria are the Akaike Information criterion (AIC), the Schwarz criterion (SC) and the Hannan-Quinn criterion (HQ). We mostly rely on the latter for selecting the lag length.

Finally, we briefly illustrate below the causality testing, which is performed in a similar fashion for model specifications in both first differences and levels, with the only difference being the presence of the extra lag terms in equation (2). Partitioning the vector of interest in m-dimensional and (K–m)-dimensional sub-vectors  $y_{a,t}$  and  $y_{\beta,t}$ :

$$y_{t} = \begin{bmatrix} y_{a,t} \\ y_{\beta,t} \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad A_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11,i} & A_{12,i} \\ A_{21,i} & A_{22,i} \end{bmatrix} \quad i = 1...p$$
(6)

where  $A_i$  are partitioned in accordance with the partitioning of  $y_t$ ,  $y_{a,t}$  does not Granger-cause  $y_{\beta,t}$  if and only if the following hypothesis cannot be rejected:

$$H_o: A_{12,i} = 0 \quad for \quad i = 1...p$$
 (7)

Thus, the null hypothesis is formulated as zero restrictions on the coefficients of the lags of a subset of the variables. This is in the form of a standard Wald-type test and therefore inference is asymptotically normal for both the VAR in differences in equation (1) and the lagged differences in the VEC model in equation (3). However, inference is non-standard when we consider the VAR in levels in equation (2) and therefore we adopt the methodology proposed by Toda and Yamamoto (1995), which restores asymptotically normal inference in causality testing and is robust to the integration and cointegration properties of the process. Therefore for equation (2), we apply Granger causality testing in the augmented dmax VAR(p) representation, where dmax is the maximum order of integration suspected to apply in the VAR.

Because our level variables are first order integrated we use an augmented (by one lag) VAR(p+1) as shown before.<sup>8</sup>

A set of standard residual and misspecification tests is applied after the estimation of each model, either in VAR or VEC form. Detailed results on these tests are available on request.

## 5. Empirical analysis and policy implications

## 5.1 VEC representation

This section discusses the results of our co-integration analysis and the estimates of a number of identified error correction (VEC) models.<sup>9</sup> The variables examined herein are taken in log levels and include:

**LOG\_L\_TNPL**: logarithm of the level of total (banking sector-wide) nonperforming loans that include restructured loans in billions of euros;

**LOG\_RGDP:** logarithm of the level of Greece's real gross domestic product in billions of euros;

**LOG\_EMPLOYED:** logarithm of the total number of employed individuals in all domestic industries in millions of persons;

**LOG\_L\_TLOANS:** logarithm of the level of total outstanding loans provided by domestic credit institutions in billions of euros; and

**L\_RIR:** average weighted loan interest rate deflated by Greece's harmonized index of consumer prices, herein calculated using as weights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> While we do not explicitly discuss impulse responses and variance decomposition in the methodology section we do note that the presence of causality is a prerequisite for their interpretability. This is the reason why we insist on examining the robustness of our causality tests across three different kinds of VAR representations, including levels, differences and VEC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> We present our results with primary focus on the implications of our estimates; causality test results and impulse responses are fully available at the tables, but are discussed for illustrative cases and not exhaustively.

the outstanding volumes of domestic monetary financial institutions' loans vis-à-vis euro area private-sector residents.

The results of our Augmented Dickey-Fuller and Phillips-Perron tests indicate that all of the aforementioned variables represent nonstationary I(1) processes.<sup>10</sup> Furthermore, the implementation of VARbased co-integration tests using the methodology developed in Johansen (1991, 1995) indicates the existence of one or more co-integrating relationships in different combinations of the variables under examination (results are available on request).

The estimates of our vector error correction (VEC) specifications are reported in Table 1.1 (models N1 to N5). The first part of the table (under the heading "Co-integrating Equations") reports the results from the first step Johansen procedure and shows the long-run equilibrium relationship between the co-integrated variables of interest. Calculated t-statistics based on the estimated asymptotic standard errors (corrected for degrees of freedom) are reported below the estimated coefficients.

The rest of Table 1.1 has the usual interpretation. The lines under the heading "Error Correction Terms" show the estimated coefficient(s) of the error correction term(s) and effectively constitute speed of adjustment parameters. Similarly, the lines under the heading "Pseudo-Variables" show the coefficients of the dummy variables *c12* and *d2013*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Care must be taken in interpreting the results of such tests due to the limited sample size; unit root tests are not the best power performers. This is one of the reasons that we have opted to estimate more than one kind of models from the VAR family.

In our study, *c12* is defined as a crisis dummy that takes the value 1 from Q1 2012 onwards and the value zero (0) otherwise, while d2013 takes the value 1 in Q1 2013 and the value zero in all other quarters. The latter dummy is meant to capture the effects of the one-off spike recorded in the level of non-performing loans in the first quarter of 2013 due to the absorption by the four Greek systemic banks of the balance sheets of the Cypriot subsidiaries operating in Greece following the outbreak of the Cypriot banking crisis. The usual goodness of fit measures  $R^2$  and Adjusted-R<sup>2</sup> as well as the VEC Schwartz Criterion are reported below the heading "Statistics", while Table 1.2 shows the results of the relevant Granger causality tests.

	N1	N2	N3	N4	N5
	Cointegra	ating Equation			
LOG_L_TNPL(-1)	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
t-statistic	-	-	-	-	-
LOG_RGDP(-1)	-4.12		-5.39		
t-statistic	4.66		14.94		
LOG_EMPLOYED(-1)		-2.17		-2.49	-5.44
t-statistic		1.73		3.27	8.09
LOG_L_TLOANS(-1)			2.70	1.87	
t-statistic			-14.94	-3.84	
L_RIR(-1)					0.05
t-statistic					2.94
@TREND(05Q1)	0.03	0.05			-0.04
t-statistic	-4.12	-7.39			-10.94
С	19.21	5.26	10.34	-2.46	-10.46
	Error Co	rrection Term			
Coint. Eq.	0.02	-0.18	-0.11	-0.06	0.07
t-statistic	0.36	-2.20	-4.27	-3.35	0.86
	Pseud	o-Variables			
D2013				0.14	
t-statistic				3.98	
C12	-0.02	-0.03			-0.01
t-statistic	-1.56	-1.79			-0.11
	St	atistics			
Single R <sup>2</sup> 's	0.39	0.50	0.54	0.66	0.34
Single Adjusted R <sup>2</sup> 's	0.28	0.37	0.49	0.59	0.25
VEC's Shwartz Criterion	-7.70	-8.76	-12.50	-13.56	-5.89

\* All variables are in log levels

	N	1	N2 N3						N4		N5		
D(LOG_L_TNPL)		0.00		0.02		0.95	0.28		0.13	0.21		0.78	0.84
D(LOG_RGDP)	0.02				0.16								
D(LOG_EMPLOYED)			0.23					0.01		0.01	0.06		0.19
D(LOG_L_TLOANS)					0.93	0.31		0.08	0.01				
D(L_RIR)											0.80	0.67	

**Table 1.2** P-values of the modified Wald-Test for causality for Error Correction Models N1 to N5.(Source: The Authors)

\* All variables are in logs of levels

The first part of Table 1.1 indicates that all macroeconomic variables under examination have the correct theoretical sign and are statistically significant.

In more detail, the level of non-performing loans including restructured loans is negatively affected by (i.e., increases with) a slowdown in economic activity (models: N1 & N3) or a decline in the number of employed persons (models: N2, N4 & N5). This result confirms the importance of macroeconomic conditions for the evolution of bad debts and is in line with the findings of a number of recent empirical studies (see e.g. Salas and Suarina, 2002; Rajan and Dhal, 2003; Jimenez and Saurina, 2005; Pesaran et al., 2006; Quagliarello 2007; Beck et al., 2013; Klein 2013; and Louzis et al., 2012). Again, the general explanation for the countercyclical behavior of bad loans relates to the procyclicality of the demand and the supply of bank credit as well as the difficulties faced by borrowers in servicing their debt obligations when macroeconomic conditions deteriorate, unemployment rises and disposable incomes decline.

The estimated coefficient of the real interest rate in the estimated longrun equilibrium relationship of model N5 is statistically significant and has the correct theoretical sign (positive). This finding is also in line with the earlier literature (see e.g. Louzis et al., 2012, Beck et al., 2013; and Klein 2013) and reflects the increased difficulty faced by borrowers in meeting their loan obligations when servicing costs increase.

The level of total loans enters the long-run equilibrium relationship with a positive (and significant) sign as regards its relationship with the level of non-performing loans (models N3 & N4). This is in line with what one should expect, given that an increase in the amount of loans provided by domestic banks increases the chances that a higher volume of loans will go bust when economic conditions deteriorate.

An interesting finding related to the estimates of model N3 is that the long-run effect (in absolute terms) of the level of real GDP on the level of non-performing loans is found to be around double in magnitude of the effect of loans provided by the domestic banking system. This is verified by testing the following restriction in the long-run co-integrating equation:

$$coefficient_{LOG_RGDP} + 2^* coefficient_{LOG_L_TLOANS} = 0$$
(1)

The relevant Likelihood Ratio (LR) statistic for the testing of the above restriction is asymptotically distributed at chi-square with degrees of freedom equal to the number of cointegrating equation (herein, equal to 1). In our case, the estimated chi-square (1) value is 0.235 (probability: 0.628), which means that the imposed restriction cannot be rejected at usual confidence levels.

A potential interpretation of the above result is as follows: in Greece's case, past experience suggests that aggregate economic activity (herein, proxied by real GDP) is much more important than the outstanding stock of bank credit in determining the level of non-performing loans in the long-run equilibrium. In turn, this highlights the importance of restoring the conditions for positive and sustainable economic growth for improving private-sector solvency. This result is also in agreement with the argument made in Sector 3 that the crisis found Greece's private sector not particularly over levered relative to other euro area (and non-EA EU) economies, as least as regards the respective ratios of outstanding private-sector credit to GDP.

Taking model N1 to be our baseline specification, we document a bidirectional causality between the level of non-performing loans (*LOG\_L\_TNPL*) and the level of real GDP (*LOG\_L\_RGDP*). In more detail, as the Granger Causality tests of Table 1.2 indicates, TNPLs are Granger caused by RGDP at a 2.1% significance level, while RGDP is Granger caused by TNPLs at a significance level of 1%. Stating it differently, each variable is better explained by both the lagged values of TNPLs and RGDP than by its own lags alone. Reported results of Granger causality tests implemented in models N2 to N6 have an analogous interpretation.

Tables 1.3 portrays the estimated impulse-response functions that trace the effects of a Cholesky one standard deviation (1 S.D.) shock to one of the endogenous variables on the other variables of VEC models N1 to N5. Finally, Table 1.4 shows the respective variance decomposition, which provides information about the relative importance of each random innovation in affecting the variables in the VECs. For model N2, over a forecast horizon of 10 quarters (2.5 years), up to 57 percent of the forecast error variance in the *LOG\_L\_TNPL* variable can be explained by its own shocks, with the remaining 43 percent being due to shocks in the other variable (herein, **LOG\_EMPLOYED**).

		CONTECTION INC		ource. The Authors	5)	
ECM	Dependent	LOG_L_TNPL(%)	LOG_RGDP(%) L	OG_EMPLOYED(%)	LOG_L_TLOANS(%	6) L_RIR(%)
	Variable					
NI1	LOG_L_TNPL	0.11	0.00			
INT	LOG_RGDP	-0.02	0.00			
N12	LOG_L_TNPL	0.07		-0.09		
INZ.	LOG_EMPLOYED	-0.02		0.03		
	LOG_L_TNPL	0.03	-0.03		0.09	
N3	LOG_RGDP	0.00	0.02		-0.02	
	LOG_L_TLOANS	0.01	0.03		0.02	
	LOG_L_TNPL	0.02		-0.03	0.00	
N4	LOG_EMPLOYED	0.01		0.04	0.00	
	LOG_L_TLOANS	-0.05		0.04	0.05	
	LOG_L_TNPL	0.11		-0.01		0.04
N5	LOG_EMPLOYED	-0.02		0.01		-0.01
	L_RIR	-0.34		-0.92		0.90

 Table 1.3 Impulse Response Analyses to Cholesky's one s.d. shock in ten Quarters ahead for Error

 Correction Models N1 to N5. (Source: The Authors)

 Table 1.4 Variance Decomposition Analyses in ten Quarters ahead for Error Correction Models N1 to

 N5. (Source: The Authors)

ECM	Dependent Variable	LOG_L_TNPL(%	) LOG_RGDP(%) I	.OG_EMPLOYED(%)	LOG_L_TLOANS(%) L_F	RIR(%)
N11	LOG_L_TNPL	97.10	2.90			
INT	LOG_RGDP	74.35	25.65			
N/2	LOG_L_TNPL	57.13		42.87		
INZ	LOG_EMPLOYED	36.74		63.26		
	LOG_L_TNPL	26.43	8.33		65.24	
N3	LOG_RGDP	1.01	80.69		18.31	
	LOG_L_TLOANS	7.59	24.19		68.21	
	LOG_L_TNPL	77.79		19.42	2.79	
N4	LOG_EMPLOYED	2.81		96.12	1.07	
	LOG_L_TLOANS	38.92		18.03	43.05	
	LOG_L_TNPL	90.82		1.83		7.35
N5	LOG_EMPLOYED	32.13		35.63	:	32.24
	L_RIR	3.28		44.82	!	51.90

#### 5.2 VAR representation

This section discusses the estimates of our vector autoregression (VAR) models, which analyze the dynamic impact of random disturbances on systems incorporating various combinations of the variables under examination. Compared to the data panel estimation techniques that have been extensively used in the literature to analyze the determinants of non-performing loans, the VAR methodology has the advantage of addressing the issue of potential endogeneity (by treating all variables as endogenous) and of fully capturing the dynamic interactions between the different types of determinants.

The variables utilized in the analysis presented in this section include:

**TNPL**: ratio of the aggregate (banking sector-wide) outstanding stock of non-performing loans including restructured loans to the total outstanding stock of loans provided by Greek credit institutions. **TNPL\_CONS**; **TNPL\_HOUSE**; and **TNPL\_CORP** represent the respective ratios for consumer, mortgage and corporate non-performing loans including restructured loans.

**L\_RESTRUCT**: ratio of the total stock of restructured loans (all types of loans).

**RGDP:** real GDP growth (quarterly);

**RHP**: real growth of housing prices (quarterly);

**UNPL:** Greece's unemployment rate as a percent of the total labour force.

**EMPLOYED**: quarterly growth of the total number of employed persons. **INFL**: quarterly growth of the harmonized consumer price index for Greece. *L\_RIR*: real interest rate on bank loans (calculated using as weights the outstanding volumes of domestic monetary financial institutions' loans vis-à-vis euro area private-sector residents). *L\_CONS\_RIR*, *L\_HOUSE\_RIR* and *L\_CORP\_RIR* are the respective acronyms for the real interest rate on consumer, mortgage and corporate loans.

LD\_IRS: loans-to-deposits interest rate spread.

*PERFO\_TL\_RG*; *PERFO\_CONS\_RG*, *PERFO\_HOUSE\_RG* and *PERFO\_CORP\_RG*): respective real quarterly growth of the stock of total, consumer, mortgage and corporate performing loans (net of provisions).

**ETA**: solvency ratio (banking sector-wide), measured as total common shareholders equity to total bank assets.

**C12:** crisis dummy taking the value of 1 from Q1 2012 onwards and 0 otherwise.

*C13*: dummy variable taking the value 1 in Q1 2013 and the value zero in all other quarters.

In our VAR model specifications, some of the above variables enter in first differences so as to address any non-stationarity issues (variables in first differences are preceded by the letter *D*). For instance, *D*(*TNPL*) denoted the quarterly change in the ratio of non-performing loans including restructured loans.

All estimated VAR models presented in this sector pass the usual diagnostic tests as regards model specification and stability, selected lag length as well as residual autocorrelation, heteroscedasticity and normality (all results are available on request).

#### 5.2.1 NPL VARs with macro determinants

The estimates of our VAR models for the ratio of total NPLs including restructured loans (all sectors) as well as for the respective ratios for consumer, mortgage and corporate loans are reported in Tables 2.1 to 2.4. The results of a series of relevant causality tests are also reported in the aforementioned tables, confirming the efficacy of the models under examination. In most cases, the estimated coefficients have the correct theoretical sign and are statistically significant.

				0 0			0				1	
	M1			M2				М3			M4	
D(TNPL(-1))	0.21			-0.12				0.18			0.71	
t-statistic	1.36			-0.97				1.05			6.23	
RGDP(-1)	-0.17			0.14								
t-statistic	-2.43			1.92								
RHP(-1)				-0.3							-0.16	
t-statistic				-4.24							-2.19	
D(UNPL(-1))				0.94				0.60				
t-statistic				4.51				3.45				
D(L_RIR(-1))				0.34								
t-statistic				2.94								
D(LD_IRS(-1))											-0.15	
t-statistic											-0.23	
PERFO_TL_GR(-1))								-0.07				
t-statistic								-1.83				
D(TNPL(-2))	0.31											
t-statistic	2.26											
RGDP(-2)	-0.16											
t-statistic	-2.11											
С	0.00			0.00				0.01			0.00	
t-statistic	1.82			1.37				2.78			1.48	
			P	seudo-	Variabl	es						
C12				0.01								
t-statistic				2.76								
		Ca	usaliti	es Wald	l-Test (	P-Value	es)					
D(TNPL)	0.66		0.75	0.03	0.7	0.57		0.28	0.30		0.41	0.30
RGDP	0.00	0.06		0.84	0.87	0.94						
RHP		0.00	0.34	0.73		0.89				0.02		0.09
D(UNPL)		0.00	0.15		0.03	0.92	0.00		0.03			
D(L_RIR)		0.00	0.89	0.20	0.84							

Table 2.1 Estimated VAR models for aggregate non-performing loans (Source: The Authors)

D(LD_IRS)		0.82	0.02
PERFO_TL_GR	0.07 0.55		

\*Variables are expressed in either ratios or growth rates

Table 2.2	Estimated	d VAR m	odels for	non-pe	rformin	ıg consı	umer lo	ans. (S	ource: T	The Aut	thors)	
		M1		M2	2			M3			M4	
D(TNPL_CONS	(-1))	0.16		0.0	7		-	0.14			0.67	
t-statistic		0.94		0.40	0		-	0.74			5.61	
RGDP(-1)		-0.31		0.0	6							
t-statistic		-2.61		0.4	9							
RHP(-1)				-0.3	2						-0.19	
t-statistic				-2.6	6						-1.91	
D(UNPL(-1)	)			0.82	2		(	0.94				
t-statistic				2.40	6			3.78				
D(L_CONS_RIR	(-1))			0.19	9							
t-statistic				0.98	8							
D(LD_IRS(-1)	))										0.04	
t-statistic											0.04	
PERFO_CONS_G	R(-1))						-	0.14				
t-statistic							-	2.93				
D(TNPL_CONS	(-2))	0.03										
t-statistic		0.18										
RGDP(-2)		-0.34										
t-statistic		-2.80										
С		0.01		0.0	1		(	0.01			0.00	
t-statistic		2.97		3.05	5			4.22			1.76	
				Pseudo	o-Varia	bles						
C12				0.	00							
t-statistic				-0.	.70							
			Causali	ties Wa	ald-Test	t (P-Val	ues)					
	M1			M2				M3			M4	
D(TNPL_CONS)	0,	,03	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.35		0.02	0.09		0.79	0.47
RGDP	0,00	0.6	3	0.99	0.63	0.81						
D(UNPL)		0.0	1 0.44			0.53	0.00		0.01			
RHP		0.0	1 0.64			0.35				0.06		0.10
D(L_CONS_RIR)		0.3	3 0.88	0.05	0.81							
D(LD_IRS)				0.92	0.27					0.97	0.02	
PERFO_CONS_GR							0.00	0.21				

\*Variables are expressed in either ratios or growth rates

Table 2.3 Estimated VAR models for non-performing corporate loans. (Source: The Authors)

	M1	M2	M3	M4
D(TNPL_CORP(-1))	0.30	0.08	0.36	0.73
t-statistic	1.90	0.55	2.30	6.60

RGDP(-1)	-0.19			0.17								
t-statistic	-2.31			1.73								
RHP(-1)	-0.17		-	0.29							-0.19	
t-statistic	-2.17		-	3.34							-2.33	
D(UNPL(-1))				0.85			0.	60				
t-statistic				3.13			3.	01				
D(L_CORP_RIR(-1))	)			0.38								
t-statistic				2.64								
D(LD_IRS(-1))											-0.35	
t-statistic											-0.51	
PERFO_CORP_GR(- 1))							-0	.04				
t-statistic							-1.	08				
D(TNPL_CORP(-2))	0.30											
t-statistic	2.10											
RGDP(-2)	-0.15											
t-statistic	-1.81											
С	0.00			0.00			0.	00			0.00	
t-statistic	1.07		-	0.28			1.	65			1.17	
			Pse	eudo-Va	ariables	S						
C12				0.01								
t-statistic				1.94								
		Сац	usalities	s Wald-	Test (P	-Values	)					
	M1			M2				М3			M4	
D(TNPL_CORP)	0.95	•	0.47	0.15	0.63	0.31	•	0.56	0.12	•	0.12	0.99
RGDP	0.01	0.08		0.95	0.93	0.73						
D(UNPL)		0.00	0.05		0.00	0.74	0.00		0.00			
RHP		0.00	0.17	0.40		0.96				0.00		0.29
D(L_CORP_RIR)		0.00	0.76	0.12	0.88							
D(LD_IRS)										0.36	0.06	
PERFO_CORP_GR							0.28	0.68				

\*Variables are expressed in either ratios or growth rates

	M1	M2	M3	M4
D(TNPL_HOUS(-1))	0.27	0.03	0.11	0.25
t-statistic	1.71	0.17	0.58	1.62
RGDP(-1)	-0.14	0.01		
t-statistic	-2.07	0.12		
RHP(-1)		-0.15		-0.2
t-statistic		-1.89		-3.22
D(UNPL(-1))		0.53	0.41	
t-statistic		2.52	2.67	
D(L_HOUS_RIR(-1))		0.22		
t-statistic		1.65		

D(LD_IRS(-1))									0.3	7
t-statistic									0.6	7
PERFO_HOUS_GR(-1))							-0.06			
t-statistic							-1.89			
D(TNPL_HOUS(-2))	0.13									
t-statistic	0.89									
RGDP(-2)	-0.11									
t-statistic	-1.55									
C	0.00			0.00			0.01	1 0.00		0
t-statistic	2.64			2.25			3.10		2.8	1
	Pse	eudo-V	ariables/							
C12				0.01						
t-statistic				2.26						
Causalities Wald-Test (P-Values)										
	M1	M2			M3	M4				
D(TNPL_HOUS)	0.27		0.06 0.1	3 0.01	0.82	(	0.16 0.18		0.00	0.94
RGDP	0.04	0.90	0.9	0 0.90	0.91					
D(UNPL)		0.01	0.15	0.75	0.82 (	0.01	0.25			
RHP		0.06	0.67 0.6	7	0.85			0.00		0.28
D(L_HOUS_RIR)		0.10	0.75 0.7	5 0.33						
D(LD_IRS)								0.50	0.00	
PERFO_HOUS_GR	0.06 0.53									

\*Variables are expressed in either ratios or growth rates

In the VAR equations featuring non-performing loans as the left-hand side variable, the estimated coefficient of the first lag of NPLs is mostly positive, but insignificant (same result applies for models including more than one lags). The positive sign documented here is broadly in line with the findings of some earlier studies for other euro area economies; see e.g. relevant contributions for Italy by Salas and Saurina (2002); and Quagliarello (2007). The positive persistence of bad loans can be explained on the basis that it usually takes some time for NPLs to be written off banks' balance sheets. It should be noted though that our results appear to be in some disagreement with those presented in an earlier empirical analysis on Greek NPLs conducted by Louzis et al. (2012). Using a balanced data panel consisting of supervisory data for the nine (9) largest Greek commercial banks spanning the period Q1 2003 to Q3 2009, these authors document a negative and significant coefficient of the lagged NPLs variable for the case of consumer and corporate loans, along with an insignificant coefficient for mortgage loans. They explain this finding on the basis that NPLs are likely to decrease when they have increased in the previous quarter, due to write-offs. On the other hand, they interpret the insignificant coefficient for lagged mortgage NPLs as evidence supporting the view that macro fundamentals play a greater role in driving this particular category of bad debts. Overall, we would not be overly concerned about this deviation of empirical findings, given that we are using a different methodological approach. Furthermore, in contrast to Louzis et al. (2012), our study looks at aggregate (system-wide) NPL series that include restructured loans and also spans a different time period (Q1 2005 to Q4 2015).

In the majority of models, the coefficient of the lagged quarterly change in the unemployment rate, D(UNPL), or, alternatively, that of the quarterly growth of total employment, EMPLOYED, has the correct theoretical sign (positive and negative, respectively) and is statistically significant. This result can be also inferred by looking at the respective impulse response functions in Figures 2.1 to 2.4. This finding is in agreement with many empirical studies in the literature (see e.g. Quagliarello, 2007; Beck et al., 2013; Klein, 2013) and its rationale is in line with the analysis presented earlier in this document (see e.g. Section 5.1). Finally, our pairwise causality tests reject both of the following null hypotheses: a) respective labour market variable does not Granger causes NPLs; and b) NPLs do not Granger cause labour market conditions. This provides statistical evidence supporting the existence of a negative feedback effect running from NPLs to the labour market and highlights the importance of the former variable in safeguarding both financial-system and macroeconomic stability.

In a similar fashion, the coefficient(s) of lag real GDP growth is negative, though its significance diminishes in models that also include other aggregate proxies of real economic activity, such as lagged labour market variables and/or real growth of residential house prices. The finding of a negative coefficient for real GDP growth is broadly in line with what the relevant empirical literature suggests and confirms the procyclical behavior of bad loans. For instance, the estimates of a bivariate VAR for the ratio of non-performing loans and real GDP growth (model M1 in Tables 2.1 to 2.5) suggest that the transmission of GDP shocks to NPLs is relatively fast (here the maximum impact is felt within 3 quarters), with the estimated magnitude of the respective long-term impact being broadly comparable with that documented in some earlier studies. According to our estimates, a decline of real GDP growth by 1 ppt leads to a c. 0.40 ppts increase in the TNPLs ratio in the long run. Note that in their studies on the determinants of bad loans in Italy, Salas and Saurina (2002) and Quagliarello (2007) estimate a long term elasticity of c. 0.33 of NPLs with respect to GDP. Notably, our pairwise causality tests on the bivariate VAR model for NPLs and real GDP confirm the importance of the latter variable in determining future bad debts. However, rather surprisingly, they fail to reject the null that the NPLs ratio does not cause real GDP growth. This is a rather odd result but its significance and meaning is negated by the documented existence of a reverse causality running from NPLs to the unemployment rate (see earlier paragraph) and/or the real growth of housing prices (see Tables 2.1-2.4).

The coefficient of the lagged real growth of residential house prices is also found to have the correct theoretical sign (negative) and to be statistically significant in most estimated models (see relevant Granger causality tests in Tables 2.1-2.4 and respective impulse-responses in Figures 2.1-2.4). Apart from being a coincident indicator for the phase of the business cycle (negative association with NPLs), the RHP variable may be used to examine an alternative hypothesis. This can be stated as follows: in periods of increased collateral valuations, banks may be tempted to reduce their screening activity making their portfolios riskier (Quagliarello, 2007). The latter would instead imply a positive association between NPLs and collateral valuations. For the case of Greece, our results do not provide empirical evidence in favor of the latter hypothesis.







Response of D(TNPE\_CONS) to RGDP Innovation



Figure 2.2 Impulse Response of TNPL to Cholesky's one s.d. D(UNDP) innovation for VAR model M2. (Source: The Authors)



# Figure 2.3 Impulse Response of TNPL to Cholesky's one s.d. PEFRO\_GR innovation for VAR model M3. (Source: The Authors)



Figure 2.4 Impulse Response of TNPL to Cholesky's one s.d. D(LD\_IRS) innovation for VAR model M4. (Source: The Authors)





Response of D(TNPE\_CONS) to D(LD\_IRS) Innovation



RHP may also be used to examine the extent to which equity has been extracted from borrowers' homes, especially over the period of strong domestic bank lending in the pre-crisis years. This is a phenomenon that has actually been documented in more sophisticated and developed markets, such as the US housing market in the years preceding the outbreak of the global financial crisis. In the case of Greece, there is some anecdotal evidence that certain homeowners were indeed borrowing against their home equity to boost consumption or to simply service debts owed to other creditors. Such loans were usually taken in the form of mortgage loans (for e.g. home improvements) so as to benefit from the more favorable terms offered to the latter relative to consumer loans. In the analysis presented below, we do find that lagged growth of real housing prices has a comparatively larger effect on consumer loans than on corporate or mortgage loans. To the extent that it captures more idiosyncratic effects than merely the effect of the business cycle this finding may be interpreted as providing some preliminary evidence in favor of what we describe as the "home equity cashing out" hypothesis. However, we admit that the latter result deserves further analysis and we leave that for one of our future projects.

The effect of the lagged inflation rate on NPLs has been found to be ambiguous in sign and statistically insignificant in all estimated models (results available on request). This is broadly in agreement with the finding of a number of recent empirical studies (see e.g. Nkusu, 2011). On the one hand, higher inflation erodes the real value of outstanding debt, thus making debt servicing easier. On the other hand, it may reduce real incomes (when prices are sticky) and/or instigate an interest rate tightening by the monetary authority. In our study, we find no conclusive evidence in favor of either of the aforementioned hypotheses.

The coefficients of our loan service cost variables,  $L_RIR$  (and the respective ones for consumer, mortgage and corporate loans,  $L_CONS_RIR$ ;  $L_HOUSE_RIR$ ; and  $L_CORP_RIR$ ) have the correct theoretical sign (positive) and are statistically significant in most estimated models. In our analysis, the aforementioned variables enter in first-differences (quarterly change in the respective real loan interest rate), alleviating concerns related to the fact that interest rates are usually higher in expansionary phases, when NPLs tend to be low (negative association). In any case, the inclusion in our macro VAR models of the loan service cost variables in levels does not generally alter the sign (or the significance) of the estimated coefficients (results available on request). Furthermore, a casual look at the evolution of these variables in levels shows that, with the exception of a significant decline experienced in 2010, real loan rates have been on an upward

path in more recent years due to strengthening disinflation and the excessive tightness of domestic lending market conditions. At the end of 2015 (latest part of our data sample), real lending rates were higher relative to their levels in the pre-crisis period under examination.

#### 5.2.2 NPL VARs with banking sector specific determinants

We continue our analysis by presenting the results for some model specifications that include (along with the NPLs ratio) either a number of banking variables or a combination of macro and banking-specific determinants. In more detail, we examine the following variables: quarterly change in the interest rate spread between loans and deposits, *LD\_IRS*; quarterly growth of the stock of performing loans i.e., loans excluding NPLs and restructured loans, with respective acronyms, *PERFO\_TL\_GR* (for the total aggregate stock); *PERFO\_CONS\_GR* (for consumer); *PERFO\_HOUSE\_GR* (for mortgage); and *PERFO\_CORP\_GR* (for corporate loans); and quarterly change in the (banking sector-wide) solvency ratio, measured as total common shareholders equity to total bank assets.

In most cases, the coefficients of the aforementioned banking sectorrelated variables are found to be either statistically insignificant or altering only marginally the impact of the macro variables relative to the estimates produced by the macro VAR models presented in the previous section (Tables 2.1-2.4 and impulse-responses in Figures 2.1-2.4). On the one hand, this highlights the primary importance of the business cycles in determining the evolution of NPLs in Greece. This result can be visualized by looking at the estimated forecast error variance decompositions of VAR models containing both macro and bank specific determinants (results are available on request). Our results confirm that random innovations in macro variables are generally much more important than these in bank-specific variables in affecting the total variability of NPLs. On the other hand, it provides inconclusive evidence as regards some of the relevant hypotheses examined in the literature of bank-specific determinants of credit risk (see e.g. Berger and DeYoung, 1997). Having said that, we note that the scope of our analysis is somewhat constrained by the fact that our data set lacks income statement information and thus, it does not allow us to construct relevant cost efficiency indicators for the domestic banking system.

As noted earlier, the interest rate spread between loans and deposits could be given alternative interpretations related to e.g. competitiveness conditions in the loans and deposits markets or degree of risk taking on the part of domestic credit institutions (positive association with NPLs). In our study, the coefficient(s) of the lagged *LD\_IRS* variable are found to be mostly negative and insignificant, thus providing no empirical evidence in favor of the view that Greek banks have undergone any systematic efforts to boost their current earnings by extending (higher interest bearing) credit to lower credit quality clients.

The growth of performing loans may signal a positive phase of the business cycle if it is driven by demand factors, implying a negative association with NPLs. Alternatively, an overly aggressive loan supply policy on the part of banks that entails lending to lower credit quality borrowers may establish a positive association with future problem loans (Salas and Saurina, 2002; and Quagliarello, 2007). In our study, the estimates of the banking-specific VAR models imply a negative relationship between the lagged growth of performing loans and NPLs. Furthermore, the significance of the former variable appears to be diminishing in model specifications that include both macro and banking sector-specific determinants. These results do not allow us to infer that rapid loans growth today will necessarily lead to future borrower insolvency problems in the future. Again, this result is in line with analysis provided earlier in this document suggesting that, in the case of Greece, the primary cause of the sharp increase in problem loans after the outbreak of the crisis can primarily be explained by the huge contraction of domestic economic activity (and the sharp rise in unemployment) and not so much by the high rates of credit expansion experienced in the initial period following the adoption of the euro.

In our VAR modeling framework, the solvency ratio, *ETA*, can be used to test the so-called "moral hazard hypothesis", which implies a negative association between bank solvency and future NPL or, alternatively, the risk taking behavior on the part of banks (positive association). Our results do not seem to provide convincing evidence in favor of either of the above (see Table 2.5). In particular, as regards the moral former hypothesis, our results appear to be in line with Louzis et al. (2012). These authors provide the following explanation of the aforementioned result. The "moral hazard" hypothesis does not find support for the Greek banking system. A possible explanation is that the small sized

market for bank managers in Greece creates disincentives for reckless risk-taking and short-termism for reputation reasons.

Table 2.5 VAR model for Moral Hazard Hypothesis (Source: The Authors)							
		M5					
$\Delta y_{q,t}$	$\Delta$ [TNPL,	$\Delta$ [TNPL_HOUS,RGDP,	ΓNPL_HOUS,RGDP, Δ[TNPL_CORP,				
	RGDP,ETA]'	ETA]	RGDP,ETA]				
D(TNPL(-1))	0.56						
t-statistic	4.57						
D(TNPL_HOUSE(-1))		0.45					
t-statistic		3.28					
D(TNPL_CORP(-1))			0.63				
t-statistic			5.25				
D(TNPL_CONS(-1))				0.45			
t-statistic				3.15			
RGDP(-1)	-0.19	-0.17	-0.19	-0.27			
t-statistic	-2.55	-2.34	-2.27	-2.29			
D(ETA(-1))	-0.05	0.05	-0.11	-0.15			
t-statistic	-0.57	0.56	-1.02	-1.16			
С	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01			
t-statistic	1.93	2.35	1.40	2.59			
Causality Wald-Test (P-Value)							
	D(TNPL)	D(TNPL_HOUSE)	D(TNPL_CORP)	D(TNPL_CONS)			
RGDP	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02			
D(ETA)	0.57	0.58	0.31	0.25			

In addition, due to the small number of banks, regulatory authorities tend to have an accurate on-site overview of the riskiness of each bank's loan portfolio and thus, they can intervene accordingly. As a result, the potential of bank managers causing high levels of NPLs due to moral hazard incentives is minimized. We broadly concur with the above reasoning and we add that the oversight of the domestic banking system has tightened significantly in recent years not only due to the fact that domestic financial stability has been a key pillar in the country's three consecutive bailout programmes since May 2010, but also because of the phasing in of the SSM mechanism since early 2014.<sup>11</sup>

## 5.2.3 <u>Are the effects of macroeconomic shocks uniform across different</u> <u>NPL categories?</u>

Our VAR models for the different sub-categories of NPLs (consumer, mortgage or corporate loans) broadly confirm the results documented in Louzis et al., (2012) as regards the estimated impact of the macro variables. As inferred by Tables 2.1-2.4, random shocks to key macro variables such as unemployment rate, growth of real housing prices and the real interest rate have much larger effects on corporate (and to a lesser extent on consumer) loans than on mortgage loans. As noted by the aforementioned authors, the lower sensitivity of mortgage loans on macro determinants and loan rates can be explained on the basis that a considerable portion of the latter category consists of fixed rate mortgage loans. Furthermore, home ownership is highly valued in Greece (and, in fact higher than the respective euro area average) and that may be considered as a social specificity. We broadly concur with these arguments and we add that, in contrast to a certain portion of outstanding consumer loans, mortgage loans are collateralized by the underlying property and thus, it is rather natural for borrowers to prioritize their payments to banks in periods of increased financial strains.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In the context of the European banking union, Greece's four systemic banks that currently control c. 95% of total domestic banking-sector assets are now oversighted by the European Central Bank/ SSM.

### 5.2.4 NPL VARs for restructured loans

Table 2.6 presents estimates for a number of VAR models that include the ratio of the outstanding stock of restructured loans to total loans (in first differences) as one of the endogenous variables.

				30 0				
	R1		R2	2		R3		
D(RTNPL(-1))	0.03	•	0.0	4	•	0.08		
t-statistic	0.21		0.2	5		0.49		
RGDP(-1)	-0.06		-0.0	)3				
t-statistic	-2.28		-1.0	00				
RHP(-1)								
t-statistic								
D(UNPL(-1))			0.1	.3		0.15		
t-statistic			1.6	4		2.48		
D(L_RIR(-1))								
t-statistic								
D(LD_IRS(-1))								
t-statistic								
PERFO_TL_GR(-1))						0.00		
t-statistic						-0.32		
D(RTNPL(-2))	0.01							
t-statistic	0.07							
RGDP(-2)	-0.02							
t-statistic	-0.69							
С	0.00	0.00			0.00			
t-statistic	2.36		1.1	9		2.17		
		Pseud	o-Variable	25				
C12		0.00	0.00	0.00				
t-statistic		1.32	-0.25	-1.42				
	Causa	lities W	ald-Test (l	P-Values)				
	R1		R2	2		R3		
D(RTNPL)	0.62		0.27	0.43		0.94	0.05	
RGDP	0.04	0.32		0.93				
RHP								
D(UNPL)		0.10	0.00		0.15		0.00	
PERFO TL GR					0.51	0.19		

Table 2.6 Estimated VAR models for restructured loans in aggregate. (Source: The Authors)

\*Variables are expressed in either ratios or growth rates

These findings are broadly in line with these produced by the macro and bank-specific VARs analyzed in the previous sections and confirm the primary importance of macroeconomic developments in determining the evolution of this particular category of loans. We believe that the behavior of restructured loans in Greece deserves closer monitoring and analysis, but we leave that for one of our future projects.

## 6. Concluding remarks and policy implications

Understanding the determinants of non-performing loans (NPLs) is an issue of primary importance for both macroeconomic and financialsystem stability. This paper utilizes a novel set of regulatory data for non-performing and restructured loans to decipher the major drivers of the sharp deterioration in private sector solvency in Greece following the outbreak of the sovereign debt crisis. Our empirical findings broadly confirm the results of a few earlier studies on the evolution of ex post credit risk in Greece and constitute a valuable input in designing appropriate policies to safeguard macroeconomic and financial systemic stability in euro area periphery economies that were particularly hit by the crisis. Apart from looking at some relevant hypotheses that have been widely tested in the relevant literature, our study examines some novel ones. Among others, these include what we call the "home equity cashing out" hypothesis, which examines the degree to which equity has been extracted from borrowers' homes, especially over the period of strong domestic bank lending in the pre-crisis years.

By and large, the most important finding documented in our study is that the primary cause of the sharp increase of non-performing loans in Greece following the outbreak of the sovereign debt crisis can be traced back to the unprecedented contraction of domestic economic activity (and the subsequent spike in unemployment) in recent years. On the other hand, our results offer no convincing empirical evidence in support of a range of examined hypotheses assuming overly aggressive lending practices by major Greek banks or any systematic efforts to boost current earnings by extending credit to lower credit quality clients. Overall, our results urge for a swift stabilization of domestic economic conditions that would allow a cyclical peak in the non-performing loans ratio not far from its current level. The rigorous implementation of the conditionality underlying the new (3rd) bailout programme constitutes an important prerequisite for attaining this aim. In this context, the implementation of agreed reforms for modernizing the county's private sector insolvency framework and for moving towards a more efficient model for the management of NPLs is key for allowing a resumption of positive credit creation, by freeing up valuable resources that are currently trapped in unproductive sectors of the Greek economy.

## References

Athanasoglou, P., Daniilidis, I., 2011. Procyclicality in the banking industry: causes, consequences, and response. Bank of Greece, Working Paper.

Beck, R., Jakubik, P., Piloiu, A., 2013. Non-Performing Loans: What Matters in Addition to the Economic Cycle? ECB Working Paper Series, 1515.

Belaid, F., 2014. Loan quality determinants: evaluating the contribution of bank-specific variables, macroeconomic factors and firm level information. Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies. Working Paper No 04/2014.

Benito A., Whitley J., Young, G., 2001. Analysing corporate and household sector balance sheets. Bank of England. Financial Stability Review 11, 160-174.

Berger, A., DeYoung, R., 1997. Problem Loans and Cost Efficiency in Commercial Banks. Journal of Banking and Finance 21, 849-870.

Bernanke, B., Gertler, M., Gilchrist, S., 1998. The Financial Accelerator in a Quantitative Business Cycle Framework. NBER Working Paper No. 6455.

Bernanke, B., Gertler. M., 1989. Agency Costs, Net Worth, and Business Fluctuations. The American Economic Review 79(1), 14-31.

Bonfim, D., 2009. Credit Risk Drivers: Evaluating the Contribution of Firm Level Information and of Macroeconomic Dynamics. Journal of Banking and Finance 33, 281-299.

Borio, C., Furfine, C., Lowe, P., 2001. Procyclicality of the financial system and financial stability: issues and policy options. BIS Papers No 1.

Boudriga, A., Boulila Taktak, N., Jellouli, S., 2010. Problem loans in the MENA countries: bank specific determinants and the role of the business and the institutional environment. Economic Research Forum. Working Paper No. 547

Bunn, P., Redwood, V., 2003. Company Accounts Based Modelling of Business Failures and the Implications for Financial Stability. Bank of England Working Paper No 210.

Climent-Serrano, S., Pavia, J., 2014. An analysis of loan default determinants: the Spanish case. Banks and Bank Systems 9(4).

Diwan, I., Rodick, D., 1992. Debt Reduction, Adjustment Lending and Burden Sharing. NBER Working Paper No 4007 (Cambridge, MA, March).

Djankov, S., McLiesh, C., Shleifer, A., 2007. Private credit in 129 countries. Journal of Financial Economics, 84 (2): 299-329.

Fernandez de Lis, S., Martinez Pagés, J., and Saurina, J., 2000. Credit Growth, Problem Loans and Credit Risk Provisioning in Spain. Banco de Espana. Working Paper 18.

Godlewski, C.J., 2004. Bank capital and credit risk taking in emerging market economics. Journal of Banking Regulation, 6 (2): 128-145.

Jappelli, T., Pagano., M. 2002. Information sharing, lending and defaults: Cross-countries evidence. Journal of Banking & Finance, 26 (10), 2017-2045.

Jimenez, G., Saurina, J., 2005. Credit cycles, credit-risk, and prudential regulation. Banco de España, January.

Johansen, S., 1991. Estimation and Hypothesis Testing of Cointegration Vectors in Gaussian Vector Autoregressive Models. Econometrica 59(6), 1551–1580.

Johansen, S., 1995. Likelihood-Based Inference in Cointegrated Vector Autoregressive Models. New York: Oxford University Press.

Keeton, W., 1999. Does faster loan growth lead to higher loan losses? Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City Economic Review, 2nd quarter 1999, 57-75. Keeton, W., Morris, C., 1987. Why Do Banks' Loan Losses Differ? Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, Economic Review, May, pp. 3-21.

King, R.G., Plosser, C.I., 1984. Money, Credit, and Prices in a Real Business Cycle. American Economic Review 74, 363-380.

Klein, N., 2013. Non-Performing Loans in CESEE: Determinants and Impact on Macroeconomic Performance. IMF Working Paper, WP/13/72.

La Porta, R., Lopez de Silanes, F., Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R., 1998. Law and Finance. Journal of Political Economy, 106 (6): 1113-1155.

Louzis, D., Vouldis, A., Metaxas, V., 2012. Macroeconomic and bankspecific determinants of NPLs in Greece: A comparative study of mortgage, business and consumer loan portfolios. Journal of Banking and Finance 36, 1012-1027.

Makri, V., 2015. What Triggers Loan Losses? An Empirical Investigation of Greek Financial Sector. SPOUDAI Journal of Economics and Business 65, 119-143.

Makri, V., Tsagkanos, A., Bellas A., 2014. Determinants of Non-Performing Loans: The case of Eurozone. PANOECONOMICUS 2, 193-206.

Mitrakos, T., Simigiannis, G., 2009. The Determinants of Greek Household Indebtedness and Financial Stress. Economic Bulletin, Bank of Greece.

Mitrakos, T., Simigiannis, G., and Tzamourani P., 2005. Indebtedness of Greek Households: Evidence from a Survey. Economic Bulletin, Bank of Greece.

Myers, S., 1977. The Determinants of Corporate Borrowing. Journal of Financial Economics, No 5.

Nkusu, M., 2011. Non-performing Loans and Macro financial Vulnerabilities in Advanced Economies. IMF Working Paper WP11/161.

Pesaran, H., Schuermann, T., Treutler, M., Weiner. S., 2006. Macroeconomic Dynamics and Credit Risk: A Global Perspective. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 38(5), 1211-1261.

Pesola, J., 2005. Banking fragility and distress: An econometric study of macroeconomic determinants. Bank of Finland Papers, No13/2005.

Quagliarello, M., 2007. Banks' riskiness over the business cycle: a panel analysis on Italian intermediaries. Applied Financial Economics 17, 119-138.

Rajan, R., 1994. Why Bank credit policies fluctuate: A theory and some evidence. Oxford University Press. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 109, No. 2 (May, 1994), pp. 399-441.

Rajan, R., Dahl, S.C., 2003. Non-performing Loans and Terms of Credit of Public Sector Banks in India: An Empirical Assessment. Reserve Bank of India. Occasional Papers 24(3).

Salas, V., Saurina, J., 2002. Credit Risk in Two Institutional Regimes: Spanish Commercial and Savings Banks. Journal of Financial Services Research 22(3), 203-224.

Toda, H.Y., Yamamoto, T., 1995. Statistical Inference in Vector Autoregressions with Possibly Integrated Processes, Journal of Econometrics 66, 225–250.

## **Previous Papers in this Series**

- 100. Gourinchas, Pierre-Olivier, Philippon, Thomas and Vayanos, Dimitri, <u>The Analytics of the Greek Crisis</u>, July 2016
- **99.** Labrianidis, Lois and Pratsinakis, Manolis, <u>Greece's new Emigration at</u> <u>times of Crisis</u>, May 2016
- **98.** Vasilaki, Rosa, <u>Policing the Crisis in Greece: The others' side of the story</u>, April 2016
- 97. Makrydemetres, Anthony, Zervopoulos, Panagiotis D and Pravita, Maria-Eliana, <u>Reform of Public Administration in Greece; Evaluating</u> <u>Structural Reform of Central Government Departments in Greece:</u> <u>Application of the DEA Methodology</u>, February 2016
- 96. Huliaras, Asteris and Kalantzakos, Sophia, <u>Looking for an Oasis of</u> <u>Support: Greece and the Gulf states</u>, January 2016
- **95.** Simiti, Marilena, <u>'Social Need' or 'Choice'? Greek Civil Society during the</u> <u>Economic Crisis</u>, November 2015
- 94. Ifantis, Kostas, Triantaphyllou, Dimitrios and Kotelis, Andreas, <u>National Role and Foreign Policy: An Exploratory Study of</u> <u>Greek Elites' Perceptions towards Turkey</u>, August 2015
- **93.** Tsirbas, Yannis and Sotiropoulos, Dimitri A., <u>What do Greek political</u> <u>elites think about Europe and the crisis? An exploratory analysis</u>, July 2015
- 92. Tsekeris, Charalambos, Kaberis, Nikos and Pinguli, Maria, <u>The Self in</u> <u>Crisis: The Experience of Personal and Social Suffering in Contemporary</u> <u>Greece</u>, June 2015
- 91. Thomadakis, Stavros B., <u>Growth, Debt and Sovereignty: Prolegomena to</u> <u>the Greek Crisis</u>, May 2015
- 90. Arapoglou, Vassilis and Gounis, Kostas, <u>Poverty and Homelessness in</u> <u>Athens: Governance and the Rise of an Emergency Model of Social Crisis</u> <u>Management</u>, March 2015
- 89. Dimelis Sophia, Giotopoulos, Ioannis and Louri, Helen, <u>Can firms grow</u> without credit? Evidence from the Euro Area, 2005-2011: A Quantile Panel Analysis, February 2015
- 88. Panagiotidis, Theodore and Printzis, Panagiotis, <u>On the</u> <u>Macroeconomic Determinants of the Housing Market in Greece: A VECM</u> <u>Approach</u>, January 2015

- 87. Monokroussos, Platon, <u>The Challenge of Restoring Debt Sustainability</u> <u>in a Deep Economic Recession: The case of Greece</u>, October 2014
- 86. Thomadakis, Stavros, Gounopoulos, Dimitrios, Nounis, Christos and Riginos, Michalis, <u>Financial Innovation and Growth: Listings and IPOs</u> <u>from 1880 to World War II in the Athens Stock Exchange</u>, September 2014
- 85. Papandreou, Nick, <u>Life in the First Person and the Art of Political</u> <u>Storytelling: The Rhetoric of Andreas Papandreou</u>, May 2014
- Kyris, George, <u>Europeanisation and 'Internalised' Conflicts:</u> <u>The Case of Cyprus</u>, April 2014
- 83. Christodoulakis, Nicos, <u>The Conflict Trap in the Greek Civil War 1946-</u> <u>1949: An economic approach</u>, March 2014
- 82. Simiti, Marilena, <u>Rage and Protest: The case of the Greek Indignant</u> <u>movement</u>, February 2014
- 81. Knight, Daniel M., <u>A Critical Perspective on Economy, Modernity and</u> <u>Temporality in Contemporary Greece through the Prism of Energy</u> <u>Practice</u>, January 2014
- 80. Monastiriotis, Vassilis and Martelli, Angelo, <u>Beyond Rising</u> <u>Unemployment: Unemployment Risk Crisis and Regional Adjustments in</u> <u>Greece</u>, December 2013
- 79. Apergis, Nicholas and Cooray, Arusha, <u>New Evidence on the Remedies</u> of the Greek Sovereign Debt Problem, November 2013
- 78. Dergiades, Theologos, Milas, Costas and Panagiotidis, Theodore, <u>Tweets, Google Trends and Sovereign Spreads in the GIIPS</u>, October 2013
- 77. Marangudakis, Manussos, Rontos, Kostas and Xenitidou, Maria, <u>State Crisis and Civil Consciousness in Greece</u>, October 2013
- **76.** Vlamis, Prodromos, <u>Greek Fiscal Crisis and Repercussions for the</u> <u>Property Market</u>, September 2013
- 75. Petralias, Athanassios, Petros, Sotirios and Prodromídis, Pródromos, <u>Greece in Recession: Economic predictions, mispredictions and policy</u> <u>implications</u>, September 2013
- 74. Katsourides, Yiannos, <u>Political Parties and Trade Unions in Cyprus</u>, September 2013
- 73. Ifantis, Kostas, The US and Turkey in the fog of regional uncertainty,

August 2013

- 72. Mamatzakis, Emmanuel, <u>Are there any Animal Spirits behind the Scenes</u> of the Euro-area Sovereign Debt Crisis?, July 2013
- **71.** Etienne, Julien, <u>Controlled negative reciprocity between the state and</u> <u>civil society: the Greek case</u>, June 2013
- **70.** Kosmidis, Spyros, <u>Government Constraints and Economic Voting in</u> <u>Greece</u>, May 2013
- 69. Venieris, Dimitris, <u>Crisis Social Policy and Social Justice: the case for</u> <u>Greece</u>, April 2013
- 68. Alogoskoufis, George, <u>Macroeconomics and Politics in the</u> <u>Accumulation of Greece's Debt: An econometric investigation 1974-</u> <u>2009</u>, March 2013
- 67. Knight, Daniel M., *Famine, Suicide and Photovoltaics: Narratives from* the Greek crisis, February 2013
- 66. Chrysoloras, Nikos, <u>Rebuilding Eurozone's Ground Zero A review of the</u> <u>Greek economic crisis</u>, January 2013
- 65. Exadaktylos, Theofanis and Zahariadis, Nikolaos, <u>Policy</u> <u>Implementation and Political Trust: Greece in the age of austerity</u>, December 2012
- 64. Chalari, Athanasia, <u>The Causal Powers of Social Change: the Case of</u> <u>Modern Greek Society</u>, November 2012
- 63. Valinakis, Yannis, <u>Greece's European Policy Making</u>, October 2012
- 62. Anagnostopoulos, Achilleas and Siebert, Stanley, <u>The impact of Greek</u> <u>labour market regulation on temporary and family employment -</u> <u>Evidence from a new survey</u>, September 2012
- 61. Caraveli, Helen and Tsionas, Efthymios G., <u>Economic Restructuring</u>, <u>Crises and the Regions: The Political Economy of Regional Inequalities in</u> <u>Greece</u>, August 2012
- 60. Christodoulakis, Nicos, <u>Currency crisis and collapse in interwar Greece:</u> <u>Predicament or Policy Failure?</u>, July 2012
- 59. Monokroussos, Platon and Thomakos, Dimitrios D., <u>Can Greece be</u> <u>saved? Current Account, fiscal imbalances and competitiveness</u>, June 2012
- 58. Kechagiaras, Yannis, <u>Why did Greece block the Euro-Atlantic integration</u> of the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia? An Analysis of Greek Foreign Policy Behaviour Shifts, May 2012

- 57. Ladi, Stella, <u>The Eurozone Crisis and Austerity Politics: A Trigger for</u> <u>Administrative Reform in Greece</u>?, April 2012
- 56. Chardas, Anastassios, <u>Multi-level governance and the application of the</u> partnership principle in times of economic crisis in Greece, March 2012
- 55. Skouroliakou, Melina, <u>The Communication Factor in Greek Foreign</u> <u>Policy: An Analysis</u>, February 2012
- 54. Alogoskoufis, George, <u>Greece's Sovereign Debt Crisis: Retrospect and</u> <u>Prospect</u>, January 2012
- **53.** Prasopoulou, Elpida, <u>In quest for accountability in Greek public</u> <u>administration: The case of the Taxation Information System (TAXIS)</u>, December 2011
- 52. Voskeritsian, Horen and Kornelakis, Andreas, *Institutional Change in* <u>Greek Industrial Relations in an Era of Fiscal Crisis</u>, November 2011
- **51.** Heraclides, Alexis, <u>The Essence of the Greek-Turkish Rivalry: National</u> <u>Narrative and Identity</u>, October 2011
- 50. Christodoulaki, Olga; Cho, Haeran; Fryzlewicz, Piotr, <u>A Reflection of</u> <u>History: Fluctuations in Greek Sovereign Risk between 1914 and 1929</u>, September 2011
- **49.** Monastiriotis, Vassilis and Psycharis, Yiannis, <u>Without purpose and</u> <u>strategy? A spatio-functional analysis of the regional allocation of public</u> <u>investment in Greece</u>, August 2011

**SPECIAL ISSUE edited by Vassilis Monastiriotis,** <u>*The Greek crisis in*</u> <u>focus: Austerity, Recession and paths to Recovery</u>, July 2011

- **48.** Kaplanoglou, Georgia and Rapanos, Vassilis T., <u>The Greek Fiscal Crisis</u> and the Role of Fiscal Government, June 2011
- 47. Skouras, Spyros and Christodoulakis, Nicos, <u>Electoral Misgovernance</u> <u>Cycles: Evidence from wildfires and tax evasion in Greece and elsewhere</u>, May 2011
- 46. Pagoulatos, George and Zahariadis, Nikolaos, <u>Politics, Labor,</u> <u>Regulation, and Performance: Lessons from the Privatization of OTE</u>, April 2011
- **45.** Lyrintzis, Christos, <u>Greek Politics in the Era of Economic Crisis:</u> <u>Reassessing Causes and Effects</u>, March 2011
- Monastiriotis, Vassilis and Jordaan, Jacob A., <u>Regional Distribution and</u> <u>Spatial Impact of FDI in Greece: evidence from firm-level data</u>, February 2011

- **43.** Apergis, Nicholas, <u>Characteristics of inflation in Greece: mean spillover</u> <u>effects among CPI components</u>, January 2011
- **42.** Kazamias, George, <u>From Pragmatism to Idealism to Failure: Britain in</u> <u>the Cyprus crisis of 1974</u>, December 2010
- **41.** Dimas, Christos, <u>Privatization in the name of 'Europe'. Analyzing the</u> <u>telecoms privatization in Greece from a 'discursive institutionalist'</u> <u>perspective</u>, November 2010
- 40. Katsikas, Elias and Panagiotidis, Theodore, <u>Student Status and</u> <u>Academic Performance: an approach of the quality determinants of</u> <u>university studies in Greece</u>, October 2010
- **39.** Karagiannis, Stelios, Panagopoulos, Yannis, and Vlamis, Prodromos, <u>Symmetric or Asymmetric Interest Rate Adjustments? Evidence from</u> <u>Greece, Bulgaria and Slovenia</u>, September 2010
- **38.** Pelagidis, Theodore, <u>The Greek Paradox of Falling Competitiveness and</u> <u>Weak Institutions in a High GDP Growth Rate Context (1995-2008)</u>, August 2010
- **37.** Vraniali, Efi, <u>Rethinking Public Financial Management and Budgeting in</u> <u>Greece: time to reboot?</u>, July 2010
- **36.** Lyberaki, Antigone, <u>The Record of Gender Policies in Greece 1980-2010:</u> <u>legal form and economic substance</u>, June 2010
- **35.** Markova, Eugenia, <u>Effects of Migration on Sending Countries: lessons</u> <u>from Bulgaria</u>, May 2010
- **34.** Tinios, Platon, <u>Vacillations around a Pension Reform Trajectory: time for</u> <u>a change?</u>, April 2010
- **33.** Bozhilova, Diana, <u>When Foreign Direct Investment is Good for</u> <u>Development: Bulgaria's accession, industrial restructuring and regional</u> <u>FDI</u>, March 2010
- **32.** Karamessini, Maria, <u>Transition Strategies and Labour Market</u> <u>Integration of Greek University Graduates</u>, February 2010
- **31.** Matsaganis, Manos and Flevotomou, Maria, <u>Distributional implications</u> of tax evasion in Greece, January 2010
- **30.** Hugh-Jones, David, Katsanidou, Alexia and Riener, Gerhard, <u>Political</u> <u>Discrimination in the Aftermath of Violence: the case of the Greek riots</u>, December 2009

- 29. Monastiriotis, Vassilis and Petrakos, George Local sustainable development and spatial cohesion in the post-transition Balkans: policy issues and some theory, November 2009
- 28. Monastiriotis, Vassilis and Antoniades, Andreas <u>Reform That! Greece's</u> <u>failing reform technology: beyond 'vested interests' and 'political</u> <u>exchange'</u>, October 2009
- 27. Chryssochoou, Dimitris, <u>Making Citizenship Education Work: European</u> <u>and Greek perspectives</u>, September 2009
- 26. Christopoulou, Rebekka and Kosma, Theodora, <u>Skills and Wage</u> <u>Inequality in Greece:Evidence from Matched Employer-Employee Data,</u> <u>1995-2002</u>, May 2009
- 25. Papadimitriou, Dimitris and Gateva, Eli, <u>Between Enlargement-led</u> <u>Europeanisation and Balkan Exceptionalism: an appraisal of Bulgaria's</u> <u>and Romania's entry into the European Union</u>, April 2009

### **Online papers from the Hellenic Observatory**

All GreeSE Papers are freely available for download at

http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/ GreeSE.aspx

Papers from past series published by the Hellenic Observatory are available at <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/pubs/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/">http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/europeanInstitute/">DP</a> <a href="http://www.lse.ac.uk/eu